IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

BLUE CROSS AND BLUE SHIELD OF FLORIDA, INC.,

Appellant,

٧.

DOCKET NO. 67,598

TIMOTHY L. MATTHEWS, et al

Appellees,

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

EDWARD P. NICKINSON, III
CARLTON, FIELDS, WARD, EMMANUEL,
SMITH & CUTLER, P.A.
200 East Government Street
Post Office Box 12426
Pensacola, Florida 32582
(904) 434-0142

ALAN C. SUNDBERG
CARLTON, FIELDS, WARD, EMMANUEL,
SMITH & CUTLER, P.A.
First Florida Bank Building
Post Office Drawer 190
Tallahassee, Florida 32302
(904) 224-1585

Attorneys for Appellants

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The petitioner, Blue Cross and Blue Shield of Florida, Inc. was the appellant in the District Court of Appeal, First District, and sought to leave to intervene in this action in the trial court. The respondent, or Paul C. Tyson, was the plaintiff in the trial court, and Timothy L. Matthews and J. N. Construction Company, were defendants in the trial court. The Florida Department of Insurance was permitted to participate in proceedings before the District Court of Appeal as Amicus Curiae.

In this brief, the parties will be referred to as they stand before this Court, and alternatively, as "Blue Cross" or by the respective surnames of the respondents.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

This is a petition for discretionary review of the decision of the First District Court of Appeal affirming a denial of Blue Cross' Motion for Leave to Intervene. Mr. Tyson was injured in an automobile accident allegedly caused by the negligence of Mr. Matthews, who was driving a vehicle owned by J.N. Construction Company. As a result of injuries sustained by Mr. Tyson in that accident, Blue Cross has paid 18,844.44 in medical and hospital benefits. After Mr. Tyson sued Mr. Matthews and J.N. Construction Company for damages arising from the accident, Blue Cross sought leave to intervene in the action for the purpose of claiming from the defendants its damages, to which it was entitled by common law right of subrogation, and by right of subrogation through contract with Mr. Tyson. The trial court denied Blue Cross' Motion for Leave to Intervene, holding that Blue Cross' right of recovery is abrogated by §627.7372, Fla. Stat. (1985), and finding the statute to be constitutional.

Blue Cross filed a timely appeal to the District Court of Appeal, First District, arguing that the above-cited statute is unconstitutional as applied under the circumstances of this case. On August 9, 1985 the First District Court of Appeal affirmed the denial of Blue Cross' Motion for Leave to Intervene, holding that the statute did not unconstitutionally restrict access to the courts, and did not constitute a denial of equal protection of the law. In addition, the First District Court of

appeal held that the cited statute is not preempted by the provisions of the Federal Employee Retirement Income Security Act (ERISA), 29 USC 1000 $\underline{\text{et}}$. $\underline{\text{seq}}$.

Blue Cross filed its notice to invoke the discretionary jurisdiction of this Court on September 6, 1985.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

In this action Blue Cross challenges the constitutionality of §627.7372, Fla. Stat. (1985), as construed by the lower courts. That statute provides that an injured party has no right to recover damages caused by a tortfeasor in an automobile accident to the extent an insurer or other "collateral source" has paid for those damages. The statute has been construed here to prohibit Blue Cross, which has paid Tyson's medical bills resulting from an accident allegedly caused by Matthews' negligence, from seeking to recover those expenses from Matthews.

Blue Cross argues initially that the statute may be construed to leave Blue Cross' right of action on its subrogated claims intact. If the statutory bar to the insured's double recovery is held to be an impediment personal to the insured, rather than an impediment to the cause of action, the statute will not abrogate subrogation actions. Such a construction is consistent with the long-recognized doctrine of subrogation, and avoids abrogation by implication of the right of action in subrogation by a statute which does not affect subrogation rights explicitly. Such a construction also eliminates the need to examine the constitutionality of the statute.

If this statute is construed to prohibit Blue Cross from suing Matthews, then the statute unconstitutionally restricts Blue Cross' access to the courts by abolishing a right of action available at common law without providing a reasonable

alternative remedy and without a showing of overwhelming public necessity.

Lastly, Blue Cross contends that because its subject policy is part of an employee benefits plan regulated by ERISA, state law is preempted by that federal statute. ERISA explicitly preempts all state laws which affect employee benefit plans. A savings clause exempts from the general preemption any state law which regulates insurance. As construed, \$627.7372 affects employee benefit plans by eliminating those plans' right of subrogation. The statute does not, however, regulate insurance because its stated purpose is to affect only the claims pending between injured party and tortfeasor; in addition, the statute affects not only insurance carriers, but also Social Security, Medicare, employer-supplied benefits and any other "collateral source."

ARGUMENT

I. AS CONSTRUED BY THE LOWER COURTS, SECTION 627.7372, FLA. STAT., (1985) IS UNCONSTITUTIONAL AS APPLIED.

The lower courts have construed §627.7372, Fla. Stat. (1985), as barring Blue Cross from seeking recovery of damages from Mr. Matthews flowing from his negligence which resulted in injury to Blue Cross' insured, Mr. Tyson. Initially, this brief will discuss the propriety of that statutory construction; the brief will then demonstrate that, if the statute is construed as the lower courts have construed it here, the statute unconstitutionally denies Blue Cross access to the courts of the State of Florida.

A. STATUTORY CONSTRUCTION.

The trial court and the First District Court of Appeal each held that Blue Cross could not pursue its claim against Mr.

Matthews for damages caused by Mr. Matthews' negligence. Mr.

Matthews negligently injured Mr. Tyson, Blue Cross' insured. That injury necessitated medical treatment, the expenses of which were substantially reimbursed by Blue Cross pursuant to its policy of insurance under which Mr. Tyson was a beneficiary. At common law, Blue Cross clearly is entitled, in subrogation to Mr.

Tyson's right of action against Mr. Matthews for his negligence, to make a claim against Mr. Matthews for those portions of the

damage he caused which Blue Cross, by contract, became obligated to pay and did pay.

Here, the lower courts have ruled that Blue Cross cannot maintain its action because §627.7372 prohibits Mr. Tyson, as a plaintiff in an action based upon negligent operation of an automobile, from recovering from Mr. Matthews any sums for which Mr. Tyson has been reimbursed by any "collateral source" as that term is defined by the statute. The lower courts have reasoned as follows: (1) Blue Cross' right of action against Mr. Matthews is derivative; (2) the statute bars Mr. Tyson's right of action against Mr. Matthews for recovery of sums received by Mr. Tyson from collateral sources; therefore, (3) that bar necessarily extends to Blue Cross' right of action against Mr. Matthews.

In reaching this conclusion, the lower courts have relied on a series of cases construing the statute. The most important of these cases is <u>Purdy v. Gulf Breeze Enterprises</u>, Inc., 403 So.2d 1325 (Fla. 1981). In <u>Purdy</u>, this court found the statute was constitutional in the face of an attack by a plaintiff seeking damages from the party who negligently injured him. The court reasoned that the plaintiff was not denied access to the courts to seek compensation for his damages because his right of action for medical expenses was barred only to the extent he had already recovered them from his own insurers or other collateral sources. Thus, under the facts of <u>Purdy</u>, the statute bars only

¹The court noted the injured party retained the option of suing the tortfeasor for all damages by declining to obtain compensation from a "collateral source."

double recovery by the plaintiff, and does not prevent the plaintiff in any way from being made whole.

The Purdy decision has been applied in a number of cases involving insurers' claims for subrogation: Prince v. American Indemnity Company, 431 So.2d 270 (Fla. 5th DCA 1983); Molyett v. Society National Insurance Company, 452 So.2d 1114 (Fla. 2d DCA 1984); and Zielinski v. Progressive American Insurance Company, 453 So.2d 487 (Fla. 2d DCA 1984). In each of these cases, an insurer which had reimbursed its insured for some portion of the insured's damages sought to recover those sums out of its own insured's recovery from the tortfeasor. In each case, the court denied the insurer's claim. Each of the courts properly reasoned that, since §627.7372 and Purdy prevented the insured/plaintiff from recovering from the tortfeasor any item of damage for which the insured/plaintiff had been reimbursed by a collateral source, the insured's recovery from the tortfeasor necessarily excluded those items of damage. Thus, the courts reasoned, it would be unfair to make the insured/plaintiff refund to the collateral source any portion of his recovery. The logic of these decisions is impeccable, and Blue Cross does not challenge them here. Cross' only quarrel with these decisions is that the lower courts in this case have used them illogically to justify a decision barring Blue Cross from recovering its claim from the tortfeasor, not from its insured.

In this action, Blue Cross has not sought, and does not seek, to obtain any portion of Mr. Tyson's prospective recovery

from Mr. Matthews. Rather, Blue Cross seeks to enforce its common law right to recover from Mr. Matthews those damages which he has caused, and for which Blue Cross has become liable by contract. The decisions in Purdy, Prince, Molyett, and Zielinski have no application to this case. Blue Cross is not seeking to recover damages for which it will be reimbursed by some other source; nor is Blue Cross seeking to diminish its insured's recovery in any way.

Section I. B. of this brief demonstrates that the construction given §627.7372 by the lower courts necessitates a finding that the statute is unconstitutional as applied. section, Blue Cross suggests that finding of unconstitutionality can be avoided by a narrower construction of the statute. the duty of the court to construe statutes so as to uphold their validity and avoid a finding of unconstitutionality, if there is any reasonable basis for the construction. Dunedin v. Bense, 90 So.2d 300 (Fla. 1956); Miami v. Kayfetz, 92 So.2d 798 (Fla. 1957); Pinellas County v. Laumer, 94 So. 2d 837 (Fla. 1957). Where provisions of the Constitution, as construed by earlier judgments of the courts, conflict with a statute, the statute "must yield to a construction which will harmonize with the Constitution." Stansell v. Martin, 153 Fla. 421, 14 So.2d 892, 893 (1943). Therefore, the language of a statute should not be given its broadest meaning if doing so would render the statute of doubtful constitutionality. Olds v. State ex rel. Cole, 101 Fla. 218, 133 So. 641 (1931). Moreover, courts will not pass on the

constitutionality of a statute if the case can be decided on nonconstitutional grounds. Maxcy v. Mayo, 103 Fla. 552, 139 So. 121 (1931); Armstrong v. Stone, 130 Fla. 615, 178 So. 294 (1938).

It remains to be seen whether, apart from the inapplicable holdings in the cases cited above, the statute <u>must</u> be construed to bar Blue Cross' right of subrogation against the tortfeasor.

At common law, an insurer's right to recover money damages from a tortfeasor who has injured the insured, and thus caused the insurer to pay some or all of the insured's damages under its contract, has been recognized in this state at least since Atlantic Coast Line R. Co. v. Campbell, 104 Fla. 274, 139 So. So. 2d 886 (1931). Accord, Rosenthal v. Scott, 150 So. 2d 433 (Fla. 1961); Rodriguez v. Travelers Ins. Co., 367 So. 2d 687 (Fla. 3d DCA 1979), affirmed 387 So. 2d 341 (Fla. 1980); Blue Cross of Florida Inc. v. O'Donnell, 230 So. 2d 706 (Fla. 3d DCA 1970); Rebozo v. Royal Indem. Co., 369 So. 2d 644 (Fla. 3d DCA 1979); State Farm Mutual Automobile Ins. Co. v. Robbins, 237 So. 2d (Fla. 4th DCA 1970); Morgan v. General Ins. Co. of America, 181 So. 2d 175 (Fla. 1st DCA 1965).

The insurer's right of action is, however, subject to defenses which might be raised against the insured. Atlantic Coast Line R. Company v. Campbell, supra. It is on this basis the lower courts have held that \$627.7372, Fla. Stat. (1985), prevents Blue Cross from suing Mr. Matthews. The statute bars Blue Cross' insured from recovering from the tortfeasor any damages for which he has been reimbursed by Blue Cross. The

lower courts have held that since the insured is barred from recovery, and the subrogated insurer can have no greater rights than the insured, the insurer is precluded from recovering as well.

Although this conclusion may seem logical, it is not the only possible interpretation of the statute. Not every defense which is available against the insured will bar the insurer from enforcing its subrogated claim.

In Holyoke Mutual Insurance Company v. Concrete Equipment, Inc., 394 So.2d 193 (Fla. 3d DCA 1981), pet. for rev. den., 402 So.2d 609 (Fla. 1981), the court held that the subrogee "inherits only an impediment to the cause of action . . ., not an impediment personal to the subrogor." 394 So.2d at 197 (citation omitted). The Holyoke court was faced with a "Catch-22" situation not unlike the present case. Holyoke sought to enforce a claim against Concrete Equipment as subrogee of its insured, ABC Pools, Inc. By the time the lawsuit was filed, ABC was no longer in existence as a corporation. Holyoke filed suit in its The trial court dismissed the suit, on the erroneous own name. ground that the suit could only be brought in the name of ABC. Holyoke amended its complaint to sue in the name of its insured, only to have the amended complaint dismissed on the ground that the dissolved corporation had no standing to sue. District Court of Appeal held (1) Holyoke could sue in its own name; and (2) the disability of the dissolved corporation was not an impediment to Holyoke's action, because it was an impediment

personal to the subrogor.

Nothing in §627.7372 prevents a similar construction of that statute. Section §627.7372 does not, by its terms, prohibit an action by a subrogee. It merely prohibits double recovery by the injured party himself. The provisions of the statute do not constitute a bar inhering in the cause of action; this is demonstrated by the fact that the injured party has an absolute right to decline any benefits under his insurance policy or other collateral source and seek compensation, even for damages which might have been paid by a collateral source, from the tortfeasor. Purdy, supra, 403 So.2d at 1329. Thus, the bar of the statute can be construed to operate only as a personal impediment to double recovery by the injured party.

The Legislature did not explicitly abrogate Blue Cross' right of subrogation in \$627.7372. Nothing in the statute indicates the Legislature intended a change in the law of subrogation when it adopted this statute intended to change the law of tort. In this case, Blue Cross' right of subrogation has been abrogated solely because the lower courts have construed a statute intended to affect one area of the law as having an effect in a very different area. The statute should be construed to have only its intended effect, and to leave subrogation rights unaffected.

Such a construction of the statute would preserve Blue Cross' right of action to enforce its subrogated claim against the tortfeasor. Any construction of the statute which does not

preserve Blue Cross' subrogated claim necessarily holds that the statute bars or abrogates that claim, requiring consideration of the constitutional issues relating to access to the courts. If the statute can be construed to preserve the subrogation claim, the constitutional issue need not be addressed.

B. AS CONSTRUED BY THE LOWER COURTS, §627.7372 FLA. STAT. (1985) UNCONSTITUTIONALLY RESTRICTS BLUE CROSS' ACCESS TO THE COURTS.

Section §627.7372, Fla. Stat. (1985), has been construed by the district court to abrogate an insurer's right to recover from a tortfeasor money damages caused by the tortfeasor, and for which the insurer has paid the injured party as a result of the insurer's contract. As noted above, this state has long recognized the right of an insurer to recover such damages from a tortfeasor. The holding below constitutes a denial of access to the courts guaranteed to Blue Cross by Article I, Section 21, Florida Constitution. Construing that section of the Constitution in Kluger v. White, 281 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1973), this court held that:

Where a right of access to the courts for redress for a particular injury has been provided by . . . the common law of the State . . , the Legislature is without power to abolish such a right without providing a reasonable alternative to protect the rights of the people of the State to redress for injuries, unless the Legislature can show an overpowering public necessity for the abolishment

of such right.

281 So.2d at 4.

As noted above, an insurer's right to recover its damages in subrogation against a tortfeasor have long been recognized by the courts of this state. Atlantic Coast Line R. Co. v. Campbell, The doctrine of subrogation was part of the common law of England well before the United States declared independence. It is discussed at least as early as Lord Hardwicke's opinion in Randal v. Cochran, 1 Ves. Sen. 98 (1748), cited in 16 Halsbury's Laws 1438. Lord Hardwicke refers to an insurer's right to recover its subrogated claim against a tortfeasor as "the plainest equity that could be." Clearly the right of action for subrogation was a remedy available at common law before July 4, 1976, and thus adopted as the common law of Florida by §2.01, Fla. Stat. (1985). The holding of the lower courts here abrogates, without consideration of the constitutional consequences, this ancient right of action, recognized since before the existence of our state and nation. This court discussed the doctrine of subrogation at length in Dantzler Lumber Co. v. Columbia Gas Co., 115 Fla. 541, 156 So. 116 (1934). Quoting from older texts, the court said:

The doctrine of subrogation is generally con itself borrowed, from the civil law, though some authorities regard the Roman Law as its source. However this may be, it has long been an established branch of equity jurisprudence. It does not owe its origin to statute or custom, but it is a creature of

courts of equity, having for its basis the doing of complete and perfect justice between the parties without regard to form. It is a doctrine, therefore, which will be applied or not according to the dictates of equity and good conscience, and considerations of public policy, and will be allowed in all cases where the equities of the case demand It rests upon the maxim that no one shall be enriched by another's loss, and may be invoked wherever justice demands its application, in opposition to the technical rules of law which liberate, securities with the extinguishment of the original debt.

25 R.C.L. 1313, quoted in <u>Dantzler</u>, <u>supra</u>, 156 So. at 119. The court continued:

On payment of a loss the insurer acquires the right to be subrogated pro tan to to any right of action which the insured may have against any third person whose wrongful act or neglect caused the loss. This right includes the subrogation of the insurer to against a carrier whose failure of duty caused the loss, as the carrier is primarily and the insurer only secondarily liable, and the insurer also is subrogated to the property owner's statutory right of recovery against a railroad company for setting out fire by the operation of its road.

14 R.C.L. 1404, quoted in Dantzler, supra, 156 So. at 120.

This court has previously considered a challenge to the

constitutionality of §627.7372 based upon a contention that an injured individual's right of access to the courts was unconstitutionally impaired insofar as the injured party is prevented from recovering from the tortfeasor damages which have been paid by "collateral sources." This court found the statute was not unconstitutional under those facts, because the statutes:

do not deprive persons injured in automobile accidents of their right of access to the courts. These sections merely prevent injured plaintiffs from recovering monies which, equitably speaking, belong to their insurers. Furthermore, there is nothing in the law which prevents injured persons from waiving their rights to receive insurance benefits and suing the tortfeasor for the full amount of their damages. Section §627.7372 sets off only those benefits which actually have been paid. Section 627.736(3) sets off benefits which are paid or payable," which we interpret to include only those benefits a person is entitled to under his or her contract after he or she files a claim. Thus the right of access to the courts is left completely unimpaired.

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