0/a 6-4-86

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

APR 18 1866 C CLERK, SUPPLIME LOUBLE

Chief Deputy Cook

BLUE CROSS AND BLUE SHIELD OF FLORIDA, INC.,

Appellant,

vs.

DOCKET NO.: 67,598

TIMOTHY L. MATTHEWS, et al.,

Appellees.

\_\_\_\_\_\_

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS



John N. Boggs Post Office Box 1937 Panama City, Florida (904) 763-4111

##

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Respondents, Timothy L. Matthews, et al., adopt the Preliminary Statement and Statement of the Case and Facts as stated by petitioner, Blue Cross and Blue Shield of Florida, Inc.

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Legislature of Florida has express power to institute legislation for the public welfare, even in instances where it modifies or nullifies common law principals. Both subrogation and the Collateral Source Rule have recently been effected by legislative enactment as more specifically stated in 627.736(3) and 627.7372, Florida Statutes (1985).

The alterations in these common law principals were based upon overwhelming public need as condoned by <a href="Kluger v.">Kluger v.</a>
<a href="White">White</a>, 281 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1973), or alternatively the reasoning of Purdy v. Gulf Breeze Enterprises, Inc., et al., 403 So.2d 1325 (Fla. 1981).

The rights of Blue Cross stem from a contractual subrogation provision giving the Health Care Provider <u>succession</u> rights its <u>Members</u> have against third-party tort feasors, with possible amplification from common law subrogation principals. These rights are "derivative" under any analysis and the logical extension of Purdy creates abolishment to Blue Cross.

If the subrogor has not been denied access to the courts, the subrogee "standing in the same shoes" must abide by the same standard.

Quite simply, Blue Cross has not lost its position in the marketplace because its classification with other Health Care Providers has not been effected, and can control its own destiny

by adjusting its rate structure as needed to counteract the effects of the No-Fault Statutes.

Having failed to show discrimination, classification or deprivation of a personally guaranteed right, the decision of the First District Court of Appeals should be affirmed against Blue Cross.

### ARGUMENT

- I. CONSTITUTIONALITY OF 627.736(3) AND 627.7372, FLORIDA STATUTES (1985)
  - A. THE PRINCIPAL OF SUBROGATION CREATES ONLY
    A QUALIFIED RIGHT, DERIVATIVE IN NATURE, AND
    §627.7372 FLORIDA STATUTES (1985) IS NOT
    UNCONSTITUTIONAL AS APPLIED TO BLUE CROSS

Blue Cross claims it has suffered an unconstitutional deprivation of its "access to the courts" to enforce the following provision of a contract its Alabama affiliate had with a Florida corporation, more particularly identified as Tieco, Inc.:

In the event of payment or provision otherwise by the Company of any benefits under this Contract, the Company shall, to the extent thereof, be subrogated and shall succeed to all rights of recovery (whether in contract, tort, or otherwise) which the Member or any other person has against any person or organization and shall be subrogated and succeed to the proceeds of any settlement or judgment that may result from the exercise of any such rights of recovery. Upon payment or provision by the Company of any such benefits, the Member or any other person having any rights of recovery or proceeds therefrom shall execute and deliver such proceeds or such instruments or papers and do whatever else is necessary to secure to the Company such rights of recovery and proceeds and shall do nothing to prejudice such rights. (Appendix to Respondent's Reply Brief at Page 1)

The above provision succinctly provides that Blue Cross shall <u>succeed</u>, through the concept of subrogation to all rights of recovery which the Member has against any other person. The very

language of its own policy restricts the rights of Blue Cross to only those rights its members have.

The "Member" contemplated by the above quoted subrogation provision falls within the same public classification as the injured plaintiff in <a href="Purdy v. Gulf Breeze Enterprises">Purdy v. Gulf Breeze Enterprises</a>, Inc., et <a href="Al., 403">al., 403</a> So.2d 1325 (Fla. 1981), which this Court has already proclaimed as not being denied access to the courts of this State.

The central question on the subrogation issue is whether this court's pronouncement in <a href="Purdy">Purdy</a> extends from the tort victim/insured to Blue Cross, the Health Care Provider.

Clearly, Tieco employee and Blue Cross insured, Paul Tyson, is precluded from recovering against defendants, Timothy Matthews, et al., the \$18,844.44, in medical payments he elected to collect under his health insurance contract with Blue Cross.

At the outset, petitioner takes the position that the wisdom of this court in <u>Purdy</u> and the District Courts in <u>Prince v.</u>

<u>American Indemnity Company</u>, 431 So.2d 270 (Fla. 5th DCA 1983);

<u>Molyett v. Society National Life Insurance Company</u>, 452 So.2d 1114 (Fla. 2d DCA 1984); and <u>Zielinski v. Progressive American Insurance Company</u>, 453 So.2d 487 (Fla. 2d DCA 1984), is based upon "impeccable logic". However, petitioner then seeks to distinguish that impeccable logic by separating Blue Cross from the classification of <u>Purdy</u>, and place it in a class more closely aligned with <u>Kluger v. White</u>, 281 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1973).

In <u>Purdy</u> the plaintiff was denied the common law privilege of a "double recovery." This privilege stemmed from the long-standing judicial policy that a tort feasor should not be allowed a windfall for damages he caused simply because the tort-victim was conscientious enough to have bought and paid for separate health care protection.

The "Collateral Source Rule" has long been a part of Florida Jurisprudence and until enactment of §627.736(3) and §627.7372, Florida Statutes, (1976 and 1977), was a traditional common law concept followed uniformely by our courts. As stated recently in Jones v. Baptist Hospital of Miami, Inc., 349 So.2d 672 (3d DCA 1977):

Florida follows the collateral source rule which stands for the proposition that total or partial compensation received by the injured party from a collateral source wholly independent of the wrongdoer will not operate to lessen the damages recoverable from the person causing the injury. See Finley P. Smith, Inc. v. Schectman, 132 So.2d 460 (Fla.2d DCA 1961); Paradis v. Thomas, 150 So.2d 457 (Fla.2d DCA 1963); Greyhound Corporation v. Ford, 157 So.2d 427 (Fla.2d DCA 1963); Walker v. Hilliard, 329 So.2d 44 (Fla.1st DCA 1976).

As stated in Walker v. Hilliard, supra, it is well settled that recovery of damages from a tort feasor may not be reduced by the amount of insurance proceeds received by the injured party from his insurance company; a wrongdoer should not be permitted to benefit from a policy of insurance where there is no privity between him and the plaintiff's

insurer, and the policy was written for the benefit of the insured and not the wrongdoer; if there must be a windfall, it is more just that the injured party profit, rather than the wrongdoer be relieved of full responsibility for his wrongdoing. The value of services rendered the injured party are a proper element of damages even though they were paid for by a collateral source. Paradis v. Thomas, supra.

This court, in <u>Purdy</u>, very effectively reasoned that under modern day standards, elimination of collateral source benefits in automotive accident cases created a classification bearing a reasonable relation to the legislative goal of reducing litigation among automobile insurance carriers and therefore not in violation of the equal protection clause of the constitution. (<u>Purdy</u>, <u>supra</u>, 403 So.2d at 1329).

In dictum, the <u>Purdy</u> opinion reasoned that plaintiffs were not allowed to keep collateral source benefits anyway since as a matter of equity their insurers were entitled to bring suit against tortfeasors for reimbursement. (<u>Purdy</u>, <u>supra</u>, 403 So.2d at 1328).

This is not a completely accurate assumption since often times the collateral source benefits were not subject to subrogation recoveries. Unfortunately, however, this court's gratuituous comments concerning subrogation recoveries has been seized upon by Blue Cross as a substantive basis for its argument to declare Florida Statutes, §627.7372 unconstitutional.

The importance of beginning this brief with an acknowledged emphasis of the well-established common law principal known as the Common Source Rule is to lead into another long-standing common law principal, to-wit; subrogation. The very nature of subrogation reveals it be an equitable doctrine, springing out of the right to contribution and having has its objective a prevention of injustice. It is not a matter of strict right, nor does it necessarily rest on contract, but is purely equitable in nature and will not be enforced when it would work an injustice to the rights of those having equal equities. Appleman, Insurance Law and Practice, \$6502 (1944); 16 Couch on Insurance, \$61.20 (2d Ed. 1983); USF&G v. Bennett, 119 So. 394 (1928).

A party claiming through subrogation is required to claim through a derivative right, which presupposes an original right. For a right to be subrogated, such right must exist in the person from whom it is taken. The party for whose benefit the doctrine of subrogation was excised is deemed to acquire no greater rights than those of the party from whom he was substituted. Appleman, Insurance Law and Practice, §6505, Blue Cross and Blue Shield of Florida, Inc. v. Timothy L. Matthews, et al., Case Number BD-67 (1st DCA 1985), ROA-1. It is often said with regard to subrogation that the subrogee "stands in the shoes" of the subrogor, and as such gains equitable, derivative rights against the wrongdoer. The contract that Blue Cross has with its insured, Paul Tyson, recites this principal only slightly dif-

ferent by saying that it shall be "subrogated and succeed to the proceeds of any settlement or judgment that may result from the exercise of the member's rights of recovery."

Petitioners argue initially that a very narrow construction by this court could uphold the constitutionality of §627.7372 by construing it to apply only to collateral source recoveries of the insured and not to subrogated recoveries of his insurer. making this argument, respondent fails to recognize the wording and intent of said statute and also the contractual connotation of the word "succeed" and the historical use of the word "derivative" by the courts of this state. Additionally, petitioner incorrectly draws support from Holyoke Mutual Insurance Company In Salem v. Concrete Equipment, Inc., 394 So.2d 193 (Fla. 3d DCA 1981) pet. for rev. den., 402 So.2d 609 (Fla. 1981). The Holyoke decision is used by petitioner to highlight its "Catch-22" argument although a close analysis of Holyoke reveals just the opposite. In Holyoke, the Third District allowed a valid subrogee to overcome a procedural technicality under the Real Party in Interest rule, but steadfastly maintained that it was doing so because a "technical bar" to litigation was not related to the subrogor's cause of Holyoke, supra., 394 So.2d at 197.

This court in <u>Purdy</u> eliminated the insured-subrogor's collateral source <u>cause of action</u> and declared Florida Statutes §627.7372 and 627.736(3) constitutional. If "derivative" means

"derivative" then certainly the subrogation rights of Blue Cross have been eliminated also.

B. LEGITIMATE AND LEGISLATIVE ENACTMENT AND THE LACK OF STANDING BY BLUE CROSS COMBINED TO COUNTERACT ITS "ACCESS TO THE COURT" ARGUMENT.

Respondents next take the position that subrogation is a constitutionally guaranteed right protected by Article I, §21, Florida Constitution, and subsequent pronouncement of this court in Kluger v. White, supra. At the outset, respondents contend that "subrogation" is not a "right" reaching the dignity envisioned by Article I, §21, which grants access to the courts of our state to every person for redress of any injury so as to perpetuate uniform justice.

It is well settled that the legislature has the right to eliminate certain common law rights. Florida Statutes §2.01, on its face, recognizes English Common Law, provided the said statutes and common law be not inconsistent with the constitution and laws of the United States and the acts of the legislature of this state.

As stated generally, in <a href="fla.Jur">Fla.Jur</a>. 2d, STATUTES §8, RELATIONSHIP OF STATUTORY LAW TO COMMON LAW:

The constitution and statutes of Florida control and take precedence over the common law when there are any inconsistencies between them. Thus, the common law may be modified, directly or indirectly, by the enactment of a statute that is inconsistent with it, even if it limits or restricts, sub-

stantially changes, or entirely abrogates a rule of the common law. General and comprehensive statutes designed to regulate an entire subject supersede all common-law rules and the premises.

This court has long recognized the legislature's right to modify common law by a statutory enactment so long as a person's constitutional rights were not violated in the process. Kluger v. White, supra. As pronounced in Kluger, even a constitutional right can be abolished if the legislature can show "an overpowering public necessity for the abolishment of such right, and no alternative method of meeting such public necessity can be shown." The legislature of this state, by its constant refinement of the no-fault concept of automobile insurance, has spoken plainly that "public policy transcends in-fighting" within the insurance industry. Faced with skyrocketing automobile insurance rates, health costs and personal injury claims, the legislature has set its goal at lowering these public expenses. One such effort was to eliminate collateral and double recoveries by tort This court in Purdy has up-held this concept as constitutional. Blue Cross argues that since it is not an automobile insurance writer, it has no alternative remedy or advantage, although, a close analysis of this position reveals otherwise. Blue Cross is lumped into the same classification as all other health care providers doing business in the State of "Collateral Sources" are defined under Florida Statutes,

627.7372(b) as "any health, sickness or income disability insurance...." Blue Cross, therefore, is left with the competitive advantages it shared before enactment of the statutes in question since it applies uniformly throughout the health insurance industry. Although Blue Cross has failed to provide statistics comparing benefits paid in automobile insurance cases to situations of injury and illness where subrogation does not exist, respondent strongly suggests to this court that subrogation recoveries, especially in view of equitable distribution principals, play a very small part of petitioners overall rate structure. Finally, if this court were to reinstate the right of subrogation to health care providers, the practical effect would be to require the automobile insurance industry to pay additional damages under its liability coverage. Blue Cross downplays this point, but this court should recognize that the ultimate goal of Blue Cross is to seek reimbursement from automobile insurers and only secondarily the tort feasors. This legislature's perception of the insurance industry squabbling over subrogated recoveries and equitable distribution brought about systematic modifications in the Florida Automobile Reparations and Reform Act even though arguably, it benefitted tort feasors under some situations. Purdy, supra., 403 So.2d at 13 (29).

Borrowing from the eloquency of this court in <u>Gates v.</u> Foley, 247 So.2d 40 (Fla. 1971):

The law is not static. It must keep pace with changes in our society, for the doctrine of stare decisis is not an iron mold which can never be changed. Holmes, in his The Common Law (1881), p. 5, recognizes this in the following language:

The customs, beliefs, or needs of a primitive time establish a rule or a In the course of centuries formula. the customs, belief, or necessity disappear, but the rule remains. The reason which gave rise to the rule has been forgotten, and ingenious minds set themselves to inquire how it is to be accounted Some ground of policy is thought of, which seems to explain it and to reconcile it with the present state of things; and then the rule adapts itself to the new reasons which have been found for it, and centers on a new career. The old form receives a new content, and in time even the form modifies itself to fit the meaning which it has received.

It may be argued that any change in this rule should come from the Legislature. No recitation of authority is needed to indicate that this Court has not been backward in overturning unsound precedent in the area of tort law. Legislative action could, of course, be taken, but we abdicate our own function, in a field peculiarly non-statutory, when we refuse to reconsider an old and unsatisfactory courtmade rule.

The legislature and indeed the courts have a duty to remold and re-apply old standards so as to fit them to modern conditions. When the reason for a rule of law has changed, the rule itself should no longer stand and a new rule in harmony with

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